
PLANNING COMMITTEE

23 May 2019

Dear Councillor

A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Committee Room 1 Marmion 
House Lichfield Street Tamworth Staffs B79 7BZ on Tuesday, 4th June, 2019 at 
6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

NON CONFIDENTIAL

1 Apologies for Absence 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

3 Appointment of Vice Chair 

4 Declarations of Interest 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting.

When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.  

5 Applications for Consideration 

Summary of Applications received:

a 0056-2019 - 50 Thomas Street  (Pages 9 - 16)
(Report of the Assistant Director Growth & Regeneration)

Application no: 0056 - 2019
Development: Single Storey Rear Extensions
Location: 50 Thomas Street, Bolehall, Tamworth B77 3PR

b 0261-2018 - Alders Cottage  (Pages 17 - 32)
(Report of the Assistant Director Growth & Regeneration)

Application no: 0261/2018
Development: Proposed erection of three new detached houses and 
proposed double garage to existing property.
Location: Land adjoining Alders Cottage, Alders Lane, Tamworth, B79 7SD

6 Appeal Information 

a Appeal decision - B5000 North Warks Sports Ground  (Pages 33 - 50)
(Report of the Assistant Director Growth & Regeneration)

_______________________________________

Access arrangements

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for.

Filming of Meetings

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 
be found here for further information.

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 
possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 
of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 
public being accidentally filmed.   

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx


If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 
location of any cameras when selecting a seat.

FAQs

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 
here

To Councillors: P Thurgood, M Bailey, J Chesworth, C Cooke, R Ford, S Goodall, 
M Greatorex, M J Greatorex, T Jay, J Oates, M Oates, S Peaple and 
P Standen

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE

HELD ON 9th APRIL 2019

PRESENT: Councillor M Oates (Chair), Councillors J Chesworth, C Cooke, 
R Ford, T Jay, K Norchi, J Oates, S Peaple, P Standen, 
M Summers and P Thurgood

The following officers were present: Matthew Bowers (Assistant Director Growth 
& Regeneration), Andrew Collinson (Senior Planning Officer), Stuart Evans 
(Solicitor to the Council) and Jodie Small (Legal, Democratic and Corporate 
Support Assistant)

32 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence received.

33 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5th March 2019 were approved and signed as 
a correct record.

(Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor P Thurgood)

34 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest.

35 SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 

Report of Assistant Director - Growth and Regeneration

Application Number 0056/2019

Development Single storey rear extensions

Location 50 Thomas Street, Bolehall, Tamworth, B77 
3PR

Resolved Application deferred for a site visit to assess 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 9 April 2019

2

the impact on the neighbouring property in 
terms of oppressive outlook and the availability 
of parking.

(Moved by Councillor J Oates and seconded by Councillor P Standen)

Issue Papers

Application Ref: 0020/2019

Development: Application for the development of land to the north of 
Coton Lane, Tamworth to
provide 163 dwellings (including the provision of 
affordable housing and public
open space)

Location: Coton House Farm, Coton Lane, Tamworth

Resolved Members raised the following matters to 
be considered:-

1. Housing Numbers

1.1 Conformity with the local plan.

2. Flooding

2.1 Is it standard practice for flooding of 
properties?

2.2 The hard surfacing of gardens will 
increase flooding.
2.3 The raising up of the land levels 
increasing housing numbers should not 
lead to displacement of flooding 
elsewhere.

3. Highways

3.1 Concern about piecemeal 
considerations of highway considerations.

3.2 Queries over road widths and ability 
for refuse vehicles and emergency 
vehicles to access, particularly given 

Page 6



Planning Committee 9 April 2019

3

parked vehicles. 

3.3 Concern about exiting from the 
development onto Coton Lane and 
suggest give consideration to providing 
two accesses to the site and traffic lights. 

3.4 Public transport should be improved 
as part of the proposal.

3.5 There are points in the scheme due to 
bridged units that make it difficult to 
access areas for larger vehicles. 
HGV’s, refuse vehicles, emergency 
service vehicle should be able to access 
the site turning needs to be indicated.

3.6 Concern expressed about walking to 
school and need for footpaths on Coton 
Lane. 

3.7 Concern that the schools are up to 
capacity and this may impact on which 
schools children attend and impact on 
traffic movements. Traffic modelling 
should reflect the drive to school. 

3.8 Sufficient parking should be provided 
as part of the proposal for residents and 
visitors. 

3.9 Garage should be 6 metres long by 3 
metres wide and should not be converted 
if needed for parking. Consider conditions 
to retain as garages. 

     

Chair 

Chair 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 4
th

 June 2019 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



 
Application Number:  0056/2019 
 
Development:  Single Storey Rear Extensions 
 
Location:  50 Thomas Street, Bolehall, Tamworth, B77 3PR,  

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This application was deferred for a site visit at the previous Planning Committee to assess the 

impact on the neighbouring property in terms of oppressive outlook. The site visit is proposed to be 
carried out prior to the meeting.  

 
1.2 As members will recall this application is being reported to Planning Committee at the request of 

Councillor Faulkner in line with the scheme of delegation. It was requested to be called in due to: 
1. Oppressive nature of the development on residents at 48 Thomas Street 
2. Inadequate provisions for off street parking in already over-crowded street 

 
1.3 The application property is a typical Victorian end terraced property. The property has no off-street 

parking. The proposal includes two rear single storey extensions. The first proposal relates to a 
single storey extension which projects from the rear of the property by 5.2 metres in length at a 
height of 2.8 metres. The proposal requires planning permission as it extends more than 4 metres 
from the rear of the property.  

 
1.4 The other extension is single storey and has a flat roof which measures 3.0 metres in height. The 

proposal is 2.4 metres wide by 2 metre. This includes a flat roof. The property has carried out on 
extensions, in the form of rear flat roofed dormer extension, however the size and scale of this did 
not require planning permission and cannot be considered as part of the proposal. 
 Comments have also been raised by residents that the property is being used as a House in Multple 
Occupation (HMO), however a residential property can be used as shared house for up to six people  
without requiring planning permission. 

 
Location Plan 

 
 

 

Page 10



 

 

 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3. Relevant Site History 

 
0014/2019 Two storey rear extension and single storey rear/side extension and provision of a side 

facing first floor window – Refused 
 

3. Consultation Responses 
 
3.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk/planning                    
 
4. Additional Representations 
 
4.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified. Whilst every effort has been 

made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of the representations received 
are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk.  
 
- 10 objections and a petition of 125 signatures regarding: 
- Severe loss of light and outlook to kitchen, living room, and patio 
- Existing dormer already an eyesore 
- Lack of parking and addition of more cars 
- Sewer/Drainage problems 
- HMO will degrade area and have greater impact on parking for which there is no provision 
- Noise and disturbance from current building 
- Commencement of building without permission 

 
5. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
5.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
6. Planning Considerations 
 
6.1 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 

 Character and Appearance 

 Amenity of neighbouring properties 

 Supplementary Planning Document 

 Highway Safety 
 
 

Page 11

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/planning
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


6.2 Principle 
 
6.2.1 The Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 (LP) was adopted in February 2016. The most up to date 

guidance which relates specifically to extensions are contained in the recently adopted Local Plan 
Polices namely policy EN5, there is currently a draft Design Guide to which limited weight can be 
attributed to. As well as the local plan there is guidance within the National Planning Policy 
Framework and its practice guidance (NPPF). 

 
6.3 Character and Appearance   
 
6.3.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout 

form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize materials 
and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals 
should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics 
but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area.  

 
6.3.2 The side extension and rear extensions are already in place and have flat roofs and finished in brick 

with a proposal for rendered walls to match the existing dwelling. The dormer window at the rear is 
in place with hanging tiles to match the existing. It is noted that the proposed dormer would have 
been permitted development and thus not requiring permission, but under Schedule 2, Part 1, Class 
B of the GPDO; materials must be similar in appearance to the existing house. This was not the 
case initially and therefore planning permission may have been required. However, matching tiles 
are now proposed. 

 
6.3.3 As constructed, the proposed single storey extensions are not considered to have a significant 

impact on the character and appearance of this locality for the following reasons;  
 

 Its scale, design and materials are sympathetic to the existing building 

 Its siting would not impact on the street scene being at the rear 
 
 
6.4 Amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
6.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. 

 
6.4.2 The proposal will not have a significant impact on the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring 

dwellings for the following reasons:  
 

o Following the Building Research Establishment (BRE) daylight and sunlight tests, the 
proposal does not have an adverse effect on daylight and sunlight to neighbouring 
properties 

 
o Due to the close proximity of the proposal from the neighbouring property at no. 48, there is 

likely to be some impact. It is noted that the rear of the dwelling at no. 48 is already 
darkened by the existence of a covered area and high boundary fence. However, although 
in close proximity given the narrow gaps between the dwellings, as the side extension is 
single storey and with a flat roof, this is not considered to significantly increase the loss of 
light and outlook from rear windows. 

 
6.4.3 The proposal includes two side windows proposed both of which are obscurely glazed and as such 

would not overlook or impact on privacy. To ensure that the proposal retains the amenity of the 
neighbours two conditions are proposed, one which ensures no new windows are provided and one 
that retains the boundary fence between the properties.  

 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Document 
 
6.5.1 Of consideration is Borough Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) titled Tamworth 

Design Guidance.  This has recently been out for consultation 
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents.  

Page 12

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents


 
6.5.2 The contents of the SPD currently have limited weight when considering this application. The 

Design Guidance is likely to be adopted in June 2019 where more substantial weight will be 
attributed to it in accordance with paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This 
also states that an SPD add further detail to the policies in the development plan. They can be used 
to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as 
design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in 
planning decisions but are not part of the development plan.   

 
6.5.3 In relation to this application the following elements are material: 

 Careful design will be necessary in order to ensure that neighbouring properties are not 
overlooked and that appropriate levels of privacy are maintained. 

 A dormer window should be kept below the ridge line, smaller than the overall width of the roof 
and at least 50 cm away from the ridge, verge and eaves. It is recommended that a dormer 
window be centred on the window lines below and that the dormer takes up no more than half 
the overall width of the dwelling. 4.50 Materials and detailing of dormers should be carefully 
designed to consider the established and traditional pattern of materials and scales of the host 
dwelling and surrounding buildings. 

 Dormers with flat roofs can fit in well if they are appropriately finished with high quality materials, 
such as lead, and are carefully designed and detailed.  

It is considered that the proposal complies with this guidance. 
 
6.6 Highway Safety 
 
6.6.1 Policies SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 

service requirements and the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan.  

 
6.6.2 Despite concerns raised from residents it is considered that the proposal will not have a significant 

impact on highway safety for following reason. The majority of dwellings along the street do not 
currently have any parking spaces other than shared on street parking which is extremely limited 
due to the historic design of the dwellings and barrow frontages. Any proposals for additional 
bedrooms will exacerbate the situation and it is understood that the dwelling will become a HMO. 
Whilst 6 people can live together in such a property without requiring planning permission; the layout 
suggests 3 bedrooms plus a loft bedroom, which would require at least 3 parking spaces. Despite 
the layout as a HMO the use as this does not require planning permission and therefore it not a 
material consideration. The proposal indicates that the rooms are to be used for a study and a 
downstairs toilet. These facilities will improve the living environment for the dwelling but will not lead 
an increase in occupancy or bedrooms. As such they will not increase the pressure for parking for 
the dwelling. As such the proposal will not have a significant impact on highway safety as the 
proposals do not increase the parking requirements of the property. 

 
6.6.3 Based on the consideration of parking it would be difficult to substantiate a reason for refusal based 

on the impact of the proposal on parking in the area. The use as a HMO can be carried out without 
planning permission and cannot have any bearing on this consideration. 

 
7 Conclusion 
 
7.1 The proposed development is considered to be of an acceptable design, which will not have a 

significant adverse impact upon neighbouring amenity or the character of the area. Despite 
concerns in respect of highway safety it is not considered that there are reason grounds to refuse 
the application. Consequently the application is recommended for approval. 

 
8 Recommendation 
 

Approval subject to conditions 
 

 

 
Conditions 
 

Page 13



1. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the application form, 
the supporting letter and drawings: Issue 3; Alterations at 50 Thomas Street, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: To define the permission. 
 

2. The boundary fence in between 48 and 50 Thomas Street shall be maintained and retained at a 
height of at least 2 metres in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of 48 Thomas Street in accordance with policy EN5 of 
the adopted Tamworth Local Plan. 
 

3. The ground floor study and bathroom windows in the side elevation facing 48 Thomas Street shall 
be obscure glazed (at least level 3 obscurity) and these shall be maintained in perpetuity. No other 
windows shall be provided in the side elevation unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: To preserve the privacy of the occupiers of the neighbouring property (48 Thomas Street) 
in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New developments as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-2031. 

 

PLANS 
 

 
 

Page 14



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 4
th

 June 2019 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5b



 
Application Number:  0261/2018 

 
Development:  Proposed erection of three new detached houses and proposed double garage 

to existing property. 

 
Location:  Land adjoining Alders Cottage, Alders Lane, Tamworth, B79 7SD 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The application is being reported to Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Kingstone in 

line with the scheme of delegation. It was requested to be called in due to a number of issues 

outlined below: 

 The height and design of the properties being oppressive and not in keeping with the area 

 The ownership of Alders Lane and the right to access 

 The closeness of one property to existing neighbours 

 Increased parking issues during construction and once the properties are occupied 

 Light and noise nuisance to residents in Swallowfield. 

 Issues surrounding refuse collection 
 

1.2 The application is for the erection of three new dwellings. When the application was originally 
submitted the application was for the erection of four dwellings, however during the consideration of 
the application one of the dwellings has been removed this was situated on the northern edge of the 

Alders Cottage and potentially impacted on the properties in Swallowfield. The proposal has now 
been amended to the erection of three detached houses and proposed double garage to existing 
property. 

 
1.3 The proposal is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Design and Access Statement. The 

application is currently used a garden area to the rear of Alders Cottage. Access is proposed from 

an access road off Buckingham Road which is proposed to be widened to 5.175 metres wide for a 
distance of 6 metres into the site. The access then extends 21 metres into the site in front of Alders 
House. An access to the proposed properties will be created by demolishing an existing garage of 

Alders Cottage and the creation of a 3.5 metres wide access way to the rear of Alders Cottage.  
 
1.4 Alders House is a gable fronted Victorian property and Alders Cottage was originally three cottages 

which have been knocked into one large property. Originally both these properties would have 
fronted the access which runs in front of the houses. This access would have been originally used 
for access to and from the paper mill which was situated next to the River Tame.  

 
1.5 The new dwellings are proposed to the rear of the existing properties, with a bin storage area 

adjacent to Alders Cottage (condition 26 metres from the highway), and the access road running 

alongside Alders House for 23 metres. A garage for plot 1 is situated adjacent to the access road for 
plot 1. The 3 properties are all designed as thee bedroomed properties, they are utilise rooms  within 
the roof space which have roof lights to get daylight to the rooms.  

 
1.6 The proposed dwellings provides a mix of traditional and contemporary elements. A red facing brick 

is proposed, inspired by Alders House. The proposed dwellings have steeply pitched roofs echoing 

those of Alders House and Alders Cottage. The proposed dwellings provided are all 2 storey with 
single storey projections to give a stepped façade. The proposed windows are inspired by the larger, 
vertical proportions of Alders House, as occur on the upper level. The desire for light and openness 

are closely associated with modern living, which makes Alders House a more appropriate model 
than the smaller, squarer proportions of Alders Cottage. The properties have been designed with 
controlled aspect elevations to reduce the privacy implications on the surrounding properties.    

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

Location Plan 
 
 

 
 
 

 

2. Policies 
 

2.1 Local Plan Policies  

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 

 SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

 SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 HG1 – Housing 

 HG5 – Housing Mix 

 HG6 – Housing Density 

 EN3 Open Space and Green and Blue Links 

 EN4 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 

 EN5 (Design of New Development) 

 SU2 Delivering Sustainable Transport 

 SU4 Flood Risk  and Water Management 

 SU5 Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils  

Page 19



 IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 

 Appendix C – Car Park ing Standard 
 

3. Relevant Site History 
 

0616/2006 Erection of 4 no dwellinghouses (outline - siting and means of access)) to include 

demolition of existing dwellinghouse  Refused  28
th

 February 2007 
 
0214/2007 Erection of 4 no dwellinghouses (outline - layout and means of access); demolition of 

existing dwelling Approval subject to Section 106 Agreement  20
th

 June 2007 
 
0330/2008 Erection of 3 no detached houses Approval subject to Section 106 Agreement 

 5th November 2008 
 

3. Consultation Responses 

 
3.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 

 
3.2 Staffordshire County Council Highways  
 

No objections subject to conditions. 
 
3.3 Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Health 

 
No objections and no requirement for planning conditions 

 

3.4 Tamworth Borough Council – Refuse collection 
 

No objection subject to providing sufficient space for refuse facilities 

 
3.5 Severn Trent Water  
 

No objection and no requirement for drainage condition 
 
4. Additional Representations 

 
4.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and a site 

notice was erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 

received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
A number of objections have been received making the following points in respect of the application:  
 

A petition with 16 signatures on was received as part of the application process objecting to the 
proposal.  
 

Letters of objections have been received from 8 properties raising the following points. 
 
- Concern about widening the access road and at the entrance to Buckingham Road and 

removing trees which would create overlooking from the existing properties in Swallowfield.  
- Ownership issue with the right of access from Buckingham Road. 
- Maintenance issues of the access road. 

- Road safety of vehicles using the lane. 
- Use of lane will increase, leading to noise implications to existing properties.  
- Excessive provision of car parking. 

- Impact of views from existing property. 
- The proposals are not in keeping with the original plans. 
- The houses are unacceptably modern, obtrusive and not in keeping with the rest of the 

properties within the area. 
- Originally four properties were proposed which included the demolition of the Alders Cottage, 

they have squeezed in a further property next to Alders Cottage, this would create overlooking.  

- Potential of future demolition of Alders Cottage and future development.  
- Properties 3 storey, stand taller than more traditional 2 storey housing.  
- Removal of number of established mature trees. 

Page 20

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


- The proposal would impact on our privacy and restrict sunlight.  
- Construction vehicles  
 

4.2 Following consideration of the application, amendments were received which amended the designs 
and layout of the development, this reduced the height and scale and also removed a property from 
the side of Alders Cottage and replaced it with a garage for Alders Cottage. Re-consultation was 

carried out and the following comments were received from 6 properties: 
 

- Plot one will overlook properties at Alders House and Swallowfield. 

- The proposal will lead to a loss of outlook, light and privacy. 
- The dwellings would be out of keeping with the neighbouring properties.  
- The access road will increase noise, pollution and dust due to the increase in use. 

- Concern that the access road is not suitable for emergency services or refuse collection. 
- Loss of trees. 
- The houses are higher than 2 storey properties. 

- The use of Alders Lane still remains an issue in terms of noise, disturbance impact on adjacent 
properties, will there be a weight restriction on the road.  

- Disruption during construction. 

- Proximity to existing neighbours. 
- Concerns over garden sizes. 
- Proposal will set a precedent. 

- Height of plot one garage is excessive. 
 

 

5. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 

characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 

5.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 
Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 

determination of this application. 
 
6. Planning Considerations 

 
6.1 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 

 Character, Appearance and Scale 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Parking & Highways 

 Impact on Trees 

 Other Issues 
 
 

6.2 Principle 
 
6.2.1 The starting point in determining the acceptability of development proposals is the Local Plan, where 

the policies are consistent with the NPPF. Policy HG1 is the most relevant local policy in asses sing 
residential development within the Borough which supports residential development within the urban 
area of the Borough. This is considered to reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained within the NPPF because development within the urban area of Tamworth is 
in general terms sustainable. This is as a result of access to sustainable modes of transport and 
access to relevant services and amenities within the Borough. Therefore it is considered that policy 

HG1 is consistent with the NPPF. The application site is located wholly within the urban area of 
Tamworth, as defined on the proposals map. The site itself is located within walking distance of the 
town centre and local shopping facilities at Chartwell. As members will see from the Planning History 

Page 21



development on the site has been established through three planning permissions between 2006 
and 2008, this established a permission for 3 linked detached two storey properties utilising rooms 
in the roof space (reference 0330/2008). Planning policy has not changed significantly since these 

previous planning permissions. The site is therefore appropriate in terms of sustainability policy 
guidelines. The application is for an infill development located within a predominately residential  
area. It would encourage an efficient use of land and the housing mix (3 – three bedroomed 

properties) will help create sustainable mixed communities. However, there are a number of other 
issues that need to be considered when balancing the need for housing against.  

 

6.3 Character, Appearance and Scale 
 
6.3.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene. Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a 
scale, layout form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize 

materials and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development.  
Proposals should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic 
characteristics but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to 

the valued characteristics of an area.  
 
6.3.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2018 and is a material 

planning consideration in the determination of planning decisions. One of the core planning 
principles contained within the NPPF seeks to ensure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  

 
6.3.3 Design is subjective and open to interpretation and is often quoted as the art of making places for 

people, a process that is reliant on a number of different but mutually reinforcing objectives. 

Successful places constitute more than good architecture. It is important to understand the function 
of a place over time as well as the connections and spaces between buildings will affect the way a 
place ‘feels’. The Borough’s position on design is contained in Local Plan policy EN5 – Design and 

New Development which states that “….developments should be of a scale, layout form and 
massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and uti lise materials and overall 
detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals should 

respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics but 
without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area”. 

 

 
 
6.3.4 The area in general is of residential nature with a mix of traditional two-storey houses. The proposed 

dwellings, whilst providing effectively 2 storeys of residential use, is of comparative eaves height of 

the dwellings in the vicinity of the site, the eaves height of 5.7 metres in height which is comparable 
to Alders Cottage but not Albers House, as can be seen by the streetscene above. The ridge level is 

Page 22



also 1.5m higher than Alders Cottage, however the development is set back from Swallowfield, and 
is 12.5 m and 22.5m away from Alders House and Alders Cottage respectively. Beyond this the 
properties will be seen against the backdrop of the adjacent park where large trees are situated on 

the boundary. The roofs of the dwellings and architectural detail help to break up the mass of the 
dwellings. A numbers of streetscenes have been provided which show how the development will be 
assimilated into the area. Officers do not consider that the dwellings by virtue of their mass and 

scale will be out of keeping to the detriment of the character of the area.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
6.3.5 The properties have been designed in a manner which is both sympathetic to, and informed by the 

other properties which are within the vicinity and creates a strong building line albeit to the rear of 
the Alders Lane. The designs are not pastiche, but modern, they echo steep pitched roofs and 
fenestration. The lourves and recessed details on the windows echo detail on the Victorian cottages. 

The pitched roof brick detail to the front helps to minimise the appearance of the dwelling in terms of 
its massing and bulk within the street. The new dwellings are therefore of a scale and design that is 
in keeping with the area in general and compliant with policy guidelines.  

 
6.3.6 The materials to be used are indicated on the submitted details to have been chosen to match in 

with the existing render (for the proposed garage) and brick design of the existing houses and full 

details can be required to be submitted for prior approval through a suitably worded condition on any 
planning permission granted (condition 3).  

 

Page 23



6.3.7 The proposal will result in a development of 4 dwellings with the existing property remaining on 
approximately 0.18 hectare which equates to approximately 22 dwellings per hectare. The minimum 
density for urban locations, as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan (policy HG6) is between 30 and 

40 dwellings per hectare, however due to the shape of the site and position of adjacent properties in 
Swallowfield it would be difficult to raise density any higher and as a consequence it is considered 
that the proposal is policy compliant in this respect.  In fact during the consideration of the application 

a dwelling was removed that was sited directly adjacent to Alders Cottage (shown below plot 4) 
 
 

 
 

6.3.8 Concerns have been raised about the size of the garden area of the properties,, however the design 
incorporate balcony area on the rear elevations which overlook the adjacent open space. The 
garden areas range from approximately 70-90 sq m. The Borough’s Draft Design guide indicates the 

3-4 person properties should seek to achieve between 60-75 sq m of garden area. 
 
6.4 Impact on residential amenity  

 
6.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 

neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. 

 

6.4.2 The proposed development is laid out in a manner which would protect the amenities of 
neighbouring properties. Despite concerns raised by residents there would be no detrimental impact 
of the proposal in terms of overlooking or overshadowing of the adjacent properties. The new 

properties would not be overlooked or overshadowed. 
 
6.4.3 We have received some concern from the adjacent residents due to the potential of overlooking 

through the neighbouring properties. The closest properties are Alders Cottage and Alders House. 
The proposal includes the use of ‘controlled aspect’ windows (as indicated on the plan below and as 
design on the original permission 0330/2008). Plot one indicates the position of a WC, then a porch 

and then living room on the front elevation of the ground floor and then a bathroom, then wardrobe 
and en-suite on the front elevation of the first floor. Then the provision of roof lights in the roof 

Page 24



space. This controlled aspect will reduce any detrimental overlooking to the neighbouring properties 
and is proposed to be controlled through a suitably worded condition (condition 11).  

 

 
 
 

6.4.4 In order to ensure privacy, sunlight and daylight of neighbouring properties it is important that the 
separation between dwellings accords with the distances set out above, or is designed in a manner 
to avoid overlooking or overshadowing. This analysis has indicated that there will be a distance of 

approximately 22.5 metres between the rear elevation of the proposed dwelling north of Alders 
Cottage.  This is more than the recommended distance of 21 metres within the Design Guide. There 
is only a distance of 12.5 metres from the rear bedroom window of Alders House, however this  is 

the same distance as that within the Design Guide.  
 

 
 

Page 25



6.4.5 In terms of overshadowing the proposal will not have a significant impact on the amenities of 
occupiers of neighbouring dwellings. The proposed dwellings are situated some distance from 
neighbouring properties and are north west of the effected properties. Following the Building 

Research Establishment (BRE) daylight and sunlight tests, the proposal would not have an adverse 
effect on daylight and sunlight to neighbouring properties due to the proximity to habitable rooms 
and existing large garden areas. It would be therefore difficult to substantiate a reason for refusal 

based on this issue. 
 
6.4.6 An issue was raised in terms of noise and disturbance created by the additional vehicles using 

Alders Lane. Environmental Health have not raised any comments in respect of this issue. An 
additional 3 dwellings is likely to create between 27-30 additional movements a day (based on 
TRICS data). Spread across a day is unlikely that the additional traffic generated by the proposal 

would create a significant impact on the neighbouring properties.  
 
6.4.7 An objection have been received to the proposal under consideration, however residents are mainly 

concerned in terms of highway safety. Yet the proposal will not lead to a severe highway detriment. 
The Highways Authority has expressed conditions and an informative to be attached to any planning 
permission granted for the works but have confirmed the development to be acceptable subject to 

these. Not only that but in terms of construction noise due to the size of the size and its restrictions 
and constraints a condition will be required to protect neighbouring amenities.  

 

6.4.8 For the above reasons it is considered that the proposed development will not caus e significant 
harm to the amenity currently enjoyed by the existing residential properties or the future occupiers of 
the proposed dwellings and the scheme therefore satisfies this element of Local Plan Policy EN5.  

 
6.5 Parking and highway considerations 
 

6.5.1 Policy SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 
service requirements and the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan.  

 
6.5.2 The Highways Authority have raised no objection to the proposed scheme provided specified 

conditions are attached to any planning permission granted in respect of the access and parking 

arrangements for the site. The proposal provides a 5.175m by 6m wide access adjacent to 
Buckingham Road which has sufficient visibility. A bin collection point is indicated on the plans next 
to Alders Cottage, the applicant will need to acquire an indemnity agreement with the refuse team to 

allow refuse wagons to enter the site. Otherwise there is sufficient distance to be able drag the bins 
to the road side.  

 

6.5.3 There is sufficient space within the scheme so that both existing and proposed residents are able to 
manoeuvre within the site in a practical manner and leave the site in a forward gear. The layout of 
the scheme indicates at least 3 spaces for each dwelling which is above the guidance within the 

adopted Local Plan, this only requires 2 per dwelling.  The proposal has been designed so that 
garages are not prominent within the scheme. Highways has suggested electric charging points be 
provided for all the dwellings however there is no policy requirement to make the applicant do this.  

 
6.6 Impact on trees 
 

6.6.1 Policy EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity requires development to incorporate the 
planting of native tree species where appropriate to the site and states that developments that would 
involve the removal of any tree, woodland or hedgerow, which contributes significantly to its setting, 

local landscape character or it surroundings, will be resisted unless the wider benefits of the 
development are sufficient to offset the loss and cannot be avoided by appropriate siting or design. 
Where removal is justified and unavoidable, suitable and appropriate mitigation planting will be 

required to offset the loss of these features. 
 

6.6.2 There are no Tree Preservation Orders on the trees within the application site. The trees have l ittle 

amenity value, however as part of the proposal it is the intention of the applicant to provide trees 
within the scheme. There are a number of trees in the adjacent open space. A balance in respect of 
the need for the development against the loss of the trees should be made.  

 
 
 

Page 26



 
 
6.7 Other Issues 

 
6.7.1 The weight attached to material considerations in reaching a decision is a matter of judgement for 

the decision-taker however the decision-taker is required to demonstrate that in reaching that 

decision that they have considered all relevant matters. Concerns have been expressed by 
residents that the adjacent lane proposed to be used and widened is not in the control of the 
applicant. Historically the lane is unregistered and each property has a right of access over the lane, 

this has been indicated on deeds provided by the applicant. Originally, it was used by the paper mill, 
however was never registered. However, land ownership is not a material consideration, as part of 
the application the correct certificate has been completed. This indicates they have tried to establish 

the ownership but have not been able to. The applicant’s will need to take legal advice on this 
aspect of the scheme, from a planning point of view this is not material to the consideration of the 
application. 

 
6.7.2 The proposed development would be liable for Community Infrastructure Levy at the residential rate 

for 10 or under dwellings which is £68 per square metre. The proposal would be liable on the 

floorspace for all 3 dwellings. CIL information has not been submitted for the amended scheme but 
the total floorspace for the development is estimated at 320 sqm. Based on this figure, the total CIL 
liability for the development is likely to be in the region of £20-30,000. 

 
7 Conclusion 
 

7.1 The proposal comprises a sustainable form of development making good use of under-utilised land 
and buildings. It provides a high quality modern design that protects the interests of neighbouring 
residents and adds to the character of the area. On balance the proposed development is 

considered to accord with the relevant adopted Local Plan policies and in the absence of any other 
material considerations, the application is recommended for approval. This accords with policies 
SS1, SS2, HG1, EN3 EN4, EN5, SU2 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 and the 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

8 Recommendation 
 

Approval subject to the conditions outlined below.  

 
 

 

 
Conditions / Reasons 

 

1. The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings and documents. 
  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 

Planning Layout Proposed layout 1092.2.1 Rev C  

 

Dwellings  Plot 1 House type A Rev C 

Plot 2 House type Ba2.1 Rev A 
Plot 3 House type Ba2.1 Rev B 
Garages 

Flood Risk Assessment  

Design and Access Statement 

 

 
Reason: To define this permission. 
 

Page 27



3. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of all materials, including 
hard and soft landscaping, boundary treatment, bin pull up area, shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved.  
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance to the development in accordance with policy 

EN5: Design of New Development as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
4.  Notwithstanding the submitted drawings, no development shall commence until details of the 

proposed finished floor levels of the dwellings hereby approved have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.   

 
Reason: To ensure the proposed development does not have an undue impact upon the amenity of 
the neighbouring residential properties or flooding in accordance with Policy EN3 and EN5 of the 

adopted Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
5.  No development shall take place including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall 
provide for :- 

• A site compound with associated temporary buildings 
• The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
• Loading and unloading of plant and materials 

• Times of deliveries including details of loading and unloading of plant and materials  
• Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
• Wheel wash facilities (if necessary) 

• Phasing of the development including proposed garage to Alders Cottage 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the neighbouring amenity and highway safety and in accordance with 
policy EN5 and SU2 adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  

 

6.  No development shall commence until details have been submitted to protect the adjacent trees 
during and post-construction and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the arboricultural impact 

assessment unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.     
                                                                                                                                                    

Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development in accordance with 

policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-
2031. 

 

7. Prior to first occupation of the proposed dwellings the access, parking areas / driveways indicated in 
the March 2019 drawing number 2.1 issue C (site layout plan) shall be completed and surfaced in a 
porous bound material with the individual parking bays clearly delineated, which shall thereafter be 

retained for resident parking / access only for the life of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 

accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
8. All landscaping and boundary treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and 

seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall 

be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.  
 

Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in 
accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 1 A, B, C of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order), no extensions or alterations to the roofs shall be made, except as authorised under the 

Page 28



submitted application, without the prior grant of planning permission on an application made in that 
regard to the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy 
EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), the 
garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for the parking of motor vehicles and 

cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living accommodation without the prior express 
permission of the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  
 

11. Notwithstanding the submitted details the toilet, bathroom, landing window on the front elevation and 
left hand side elevation of the new dwelling Plot 1 A2.1 Rev C hereby approved shall be obscure 
glazed (at least level 3 obscurity) and these shall be maintained in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To preserve the privacy of the occupiers of the neighbouring property (Alders House) in 
accordance with policy EN5: Design of New developments as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 

2006-2031.  
 

 

 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

Page 30



 
 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 4
th

 June 2019 

 
 
 

For information – Appeal outcome 

 

 
 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6a



Appeal Ref Number:  Appeal reference - APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 Planning reference PAP/2017/0602  

 
Development:  Outline - residential development up to 150 dwellings, open space, landscaping, drainage 

features and associated infrastructure. Detailed approval is sought for principal means of 

access, with all other matters reserved 
 
Location:  Land 160m South Of North Warwicks Sports Ground, Tamworth Road, Polesworth 

 
1  Introduction 

 
1.1 This report is to inform members of the recent decision of an application situated in North Warwickshire 

jurisdiction. The Tamworth Borough Council was a party to the appeal process and made 

representations to the appeal, the decision notice is attached to this report  (Appendix A). 
 

 1.2 North Warwickshire Planning reference PAP/2017/0602 Appeal reference - APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 

related to a development proposed up to 150 dwellings, open space, landscaping, drainage features 
and associated infrastructure, with full approval of the means of access on land to the south of 
Tamworth Road and to the west of the M42, Tamworth B78 1HU. 

 

 
 
1.3 The Planning Inspectorate has now determined these details and this report identifies the decisions 

and the key issues that have arisen from them. The appeal was dealt with through the planning hearing 

process which took place on the 6
th

 November 2018 and the following that the appeal was decided on 
the 1

st
 April 2019.  

 

 
 Page 34



2  Appeal 
 

2.1 As an application the site is adjacent to Tamworth Borough Council’s boundary however not within the 
jurisdiction of the Council. The application was an outline application for the erection of 150 dwellings. 
The appellant appealed the application following the non-determination of the application during the 

agreed timescale. The Inspector considered that the main issues to be considered were  
 

i) the effect of the proposed development on the character and function of the planned gap 

between the settlements of Tamworth and Polesworth; and 
ii) whether there was adequate mitigation for its effects on local infrastructure and service 

provision. 

 
2.2 On the first issue (pages 3-6) the inspector concluded that there is evidence of longstanding local 

concern about the need to maintain a separate identity of Tamworth and Polesworth with Dordon as a 

small rural place. North Warwickshire’s Core Strategy Spatial Vision indicated ‘that the rural character 
of North Warwickshire will be retained and reinforced to ensure that when entering the Borough it is 
distinctive from the surrounding urban areas. The inspector considered that although the development 

would not significantly affect the identity of Tamworth, it would result in a major reduction in the space 
between settlements, to the extent that there would no longer be an adequate ‘meaningful gap’ and the 
separate rural identity of Polesworth with Dordon would be weakened. 

 
2.3 The Inspector within his consideration had noted at para 16-18 (page 4) that Polesworth and Tamworth 

have distinct identities. Tamworth has an identity of a much larger town, whose planned employment 

and residential expansion has given it almost a ‘new town’ character.  It is explained that further 
development at the edge of Tamworth could be planned as an integral expansion of the town, without 
seriously affecting this identity, in fact the allocation of Tamworth Golf Course for housing had done 

this. It is then identified that North Warwickshire proposed a significant expansion beyond the boundary 
at Robeys Lane (current cross boundary application reference 0561/2018). In terms of the appeal site 
to the south though, he recognises that it would be an isolated unplanned extension beyond the strong 

edge to the built-up area provided by Green Lane. Importantly in para 18 it is indicated that North 
Warwickshire Robey’s Lane allocation would still allow for substantial separation between Tamworth 
and Polesworth and therefore indicates general agreement about the principle of the Robeys Lane 

scheme. This will have to be agreed through the North Warwickshire Local Plan and the consideration 
of the formal planning applications by both North Warwickshire and Tamworth Borough Council.     

 

2.3 On the second issue (pages 7-8) the inspector considered the impact on highways, education and 
other infrastructure. On highways, the Inspector was satisfied that the appeal proposal would not have 
adverse impacts on the safe and convenient operation of the highway network despite concerns raised 

by Tamworth Borough Council and North Warwickshire Borough Council. In terms of education, the 
scheme could be adequately mitigated via monies towards schools within North Warwickshire. The 
provision of 40% affordable housing would be required, and an agreement was tabled which could 

ensure that Tamworth would have nomination rights for some of these units. The agreement also 
covered contributions towards hospital, healthcare and police services.  

 

2.4 Planning applications require a planning balance, in this instance the inspector considered in para 65 
(page 12) that the proposal would have considerable conflict with a longstanding planning objective 
arising from the reduction of the gap between settlements and weakening of the separate identity  of 

Tamworth and Polesworth. The Inspector considered that this would result in substantial social and 
environmental harm to which substantial weight should be attributed to and then subsequently 
dismissed the appeal.  

 
 Recommendation 

 

For Information only. 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 6 November 2018 

Site visit made on 7 November 2018 

by Brendan Lyons  BArch MA MRTPI IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 1st April 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 

Land to the south of Tamworth Road and to the west of the M42, 

Tamworth  B78 1HU 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an 
application for outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd against North Warwickshire Borough 
Council. 

• The application, Ref PAP/2017/0602, is dated 8 November 2017. 
• The development proposed is described as residential development of up to 150 

dwellings, open space, landscaping, drainage features and associated infrastructure, 

with full approval of the principal means of access and all other matters reserved. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed and outline planning permission is refused for 

residential development of up to 150 dwellings, open space, landscaping, 
drainage features and associated infrastructure, with full approval of the 

principal means of access and all other matters reserved at Land to the south 

of Tamworth Road and to the west of the M42, Tamworth  B78 1HU.  

Preliminary matters 

2. The application that has given rise to this appeal was submitted in outline form, 

with only the principle and amount of development and the means of access to 

the site for full approval at this stage.  The plan showing the layout of the 
access was revised while the application was still under consideration by the 

Council and I am satisfied that no party’s interests would be prejudiced by 

taking account of the amended plan1.  Further revisions since the appeal was 
submitted are considered below.  Other matters, including the layout and 

landscaping of the site and the scale and appearance of development were 

‘reserved’ for later approval by the Council.  However, the application was 

supported by a Parameters Plan and an Illustrative Masterplan that show how 
development might be laid out on the site.  I have taken note of this illustrative 

material in considering the appeal. 

3. The appeal was submitted in February 2018 against the Council’s failure to 

issue a decision within the prescribed period.  The Council has stated that the 

application was subsequently considered by its Planning and Development 

                                       
1 Plan ref 173236_A01 Rev C 

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Board, which resolved that it would have refused planning permission.  The 

Council’s two intended reasons for refusal are reflected in the framing of the 

main issues in the appeal as set out below. 

4. These reasons also inform the matters in dispute identified in the Statement of 

Common Ground (‘SCG’) concluded before the Hearing by the appellant and 
the Council.  Separate SCGs were agreed by the appellant with Warwickshire 

County Council (‘WCC’) on highways and education provision and later with 

Staffordshire County Council (‘SCC’) on highways matters.  

5. The main SCG sets out the planning policy context.  The Council has confirmed 

that its case would not rely on any saved policies of the North Warwickshire 
Local Plan 2006, but only on the adopted policies of the North Warwickshire 

Core Strategy 2014 (‘CS’).  Both of those development plan documents are 

intended to be replaced by a new North Warwickshire Local Plan (‘NWLP’), the 
examination of which commenced since the appeal was submitted and remains 

in progress.  Since the appeal Hearing, the Examining Inspector has issued a 

Progress Note following the initial round of examination sessions.  Parties to 

the appeal were given the opportunity to comment on the implications of this 
latest stage in the progress of the emerging NWLP, and the responses received 

(from the Council and the appellant - the ‘main parties’) have been taken into 

account in this decision.  

6. Since the appeal was first submitted, Government planning policy was updated 

by the publication of the July 2018 revision of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (‘NPPF’).  All parties to the appeal referred to the updated NPPF in 

their written and oral submissions.  More recent minor amendments to the 

NPPF in February 2019, linked to the publication of the outcomes of the 
Housing Delivery Test, have not had a critical bearing on the appeal decision. 

7. Before the Hearing, the appellant submitted drafts of two unilateral 

undertakings (‘UUs’) intended to provide planning obligations under Section 

106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  The UU to 

WCC was to cover the payment of financial contributions for education, 
biodiversity offsetting, rights of way and highways infrastructure.  The UU to 

North Warwickshire District Council (‘NWDC’) was to deal with the provision 

and management of open space and affordable housing and with financial 

contributions towards healthcare provision and policing.  Following discussion 
at the Hearing, amended forms of the two UUs, each executed as a deed, were 

later provided in accordance with an agreed timetable. 

Main Issues 

8. In the light of the Council’s resolved objections to the proposal and those of 

interested parties, it was agreed at the Hearing that the main issues in the 

appeal are: 

• Whether the proposal would adversely affect the character and function of 

the planned gap between the settlements of Tamworth and Polesworth; 

• Whether the proposal would provide adequate mitigation for its effects on 

local infrastructure and service provision.  

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Reasons 

9. The appeal site comprises some 6.4ha of agricultural land, located to the south 

of the B5000 road between the towns of Tamworth and Polesworth.  The site 

takes access from a short spur road off the B5000, which also serves a large 

sports ground that partly adjoins the site to the west.  The remainder of the 
western boundary is formed by a paved foot/cycle way known as Green Lane, 

beyond which, within Tamworth Borough, lies the extensive Stonydelph 

housing area.  A public footpath runs along the southern and eastern 
boundaries of the site, with open agricultural fields to the south and the M42 

motorway, which here runs in a wooded cutting, to the east.  Land on the 

opposite side of the motorway is safeguarded for the route of the HS2 railway.  

Gap between settlements  

10. Polesworth is a small market town, which now directly abuts the smaller 

settlement of Dordon, immediately to the south.  The settlement hierarchy 

defined by CS Policy NW2 places the combined settlement in the top category, 
suitable for significant growth.  Being outside the designated settlement 

boundary, the appeal site is not subject to any development plan allocation and 

falls within Category 5 of the hierarchy, within which development is to be 

limited to that needed for agriculture or a rural location.  

11. CS Policy NW19 identifies a broad location for growth to the south and east of 
Polesworth and Dordon.  Any development to the west, which would include the 

appeal site, is to respect the separate identities of Polesworth and Dordon and 

Tamworth and to maintain a ‘meaningful gap’ between them.  

12. The emerging NWLP restates the settlement hierarchy but proposes to 

introduce a new Category 2 identifying the potential development for housing 
or employment of land at the outer boundary of the borough adjoining the 

built-up area of existing settlements.  But this would be subject to criteria 

including the location being outside an identified gap and the presence of clear 

separation from a North Warwickshire settlement that would allow the 
character of the settlement to be preserved.  The appeal site is located 

immediately adjoining the urban edge of Tamworth but has not been identified 

for development, being shown as part of the ‘meaningful gap’ between 
Polesworth and Dordon and Tamworth defined by Policy LP5.  This policy 

restates the CS Policy NW19 stipulations, but adds a further requirement that 

any development within the gap should be small in scale and not intrude 
visually into the gap or reduce the size of the gap. 

13. Although the examination of the NWLP has progressed, it still has some way to 

go before it can be considered for adoption.  In the light of evidence of 

unresolved objections, I consider that the relevant emerging policies can only 

receive relatively limited weight in this decision.  Thus, while the emerging plan 
is a material consideration, the appeal proposal must primarily be assessed in 

respect of compliance with Policy NW19.  

14. The maintenance of a physical gap between Polesworth with Dordon and 

Tamworth has been a longstanding policy objective of the Council, but the 

NWLP is to provide an opportunity to define the precise extent of the gap.  The 
Council’s case for inclusion of the appeal site is founded on the 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

recommendations of a study prepared by consultants in January 20182 that 

forms part of the NWLP evidence base.  The study provides the type of 

reasoned evidence that the Inspector who examined the CS had found lacking 
at that time3. 

15. Building upon an earlier assessment carried out in 2015, the study places the 

appeal site within Parcel 7 of a total of 10 land parcels evaluated for their 

potential contribution to a ‘meaningful gap’.  Parcel 7 comprises the appeal site 

and adjacent sports ground, together with agricultural land to the south, all 
forming a wedge defined by Green Lane to the west and the M42 to the east.  

The study concludes that the parcel is a crucial part of the ‘meaningful gap’, 

providing a buffer and sense of separation between the three separate but very 

closely spaced settlements.  

16. There is no dispute that the settlements have very distinct identities.  
Polesworth has the character of a traditional small market town, defined by its 

historic core, while Dordon’s growth has arisen from housing to serve former 

mining activity.  Tamworth is a much larger place, whose planned employment 

and residential expansion has given it almost a ‘new town’ character.  

17. Further development at the edge of Tamworth could be planned as an integral 

expansion of the town, without seriously affecting its established identity.  
Indeed, the NWLP proposes significant expansion beyond the existing borough 

boundary at Robey’s Lane, to the north of the appeal site.  The appeal 

development would be an isolated unplanned extension beyond the existing 
strong edge to the built-up area provided by Green Lane.  It would surround 

the sports ground, which currently clearly sits outside the town, absorbing it 

into the urban area.  But it would not be of such scale or effect that the identity 
of Tamworth would be significantly altered. 

18. The NWLP Robey’s Lane allocation would still allow substantial separation from 

Polesworth with Dordon.  If expansion at the edge of Tamworth were to result 

in any coalescence with the smaller settlements, it would seriously 

compromise, if not extinguish, their separate identities.  The market town 
character of Polesworth, in particular, relies on a rural hinterland as a key 

element of its identity.  The policy objective of maintaining a largely 

undeveloped gap to the west of the town is well founded.  The issue then 

becomes whether and to what extent erosion of the existing gap would also be 
significantly harmful.  

19. The space between Tamworth and Polesworth at its nearest point, which is 

effectively the route of the B5000, is only some 800-850m.  The Parcel 7 land 

to the west of the M42 makes up nearly half of that gap.  A narrowing of the 

gap by the development of the site would be a significant change in purely 
quantitative terms.  The appellant’s ‘quantitative assessment’4 notes the gap 

remaining after development would be some 500m.  But at the scale of urban 

and landscape form, that would represent only a small distance, and not an 
‘extensive area’ as claimed.  

                                       
2 Assessment of the Value of the Meaningful Gap and Potential Green Belt Alterations,  LUC,  January 2018 
3 Report on the Examination of the North Warwickshire Local Plan: Core Strategy,  24 September 2014  paras 20-
21  
4 Landscape Statement of Evidence by Nicola Jacob CMLI,  paras 4.28-4.31 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

20. However, as accepted in the decision on a previous appeal5 for development on 

a different parcel of land in the proposed ‘meaningful gap’, I agree that a ‘scale 

rule’ approach to evaluating separation between settlements should be 
avoided6, and that an assessment of the impact of any proposed development 

must look at the character of the places affected and not merely the physical 

dimensions. 

21. It is accepted that the appeal site and the surrounding area is not of 

outstanding landscape quality.  But despite urban influences such as the 
motorway corridor and nearby employment development, it does form part of a 

visually pleasant stretch of undulating rural land.  

22. The appeal site comprises a single large irregularly-shaped field.  It is well 

contained visually on its western side by the trees along Green Lane with 

housing beyond, and on its eastern side by the trees along the motorway 
cutting.  To the north, the short row of houses backed by trees along the 

B5000 also provides quite strong enclosure, but the boundary with the sports 

ground is more open, despite a bank marking the modest rise in level to the 

playing fields.  The land falls to the south, where only fragments of a hedge 
remain, so that the field is seen as part of a continuous swathe of agricultural 

land.  There is a strong degree of coherence of the Parcel 7 land. 

23. In views south from the site and from the public footpath along its boundary, 

the Parcel 7 land is also seen in combination with part of the wider open land to 

the east of the M42, that encompasses the small hamlet of Birchmoor.  The 
motorway provides a strong linear feature when it emerges from its cutting, 

but is not perceived as an edge that isolates the Parcel 7 land.  

24. Similarly, in views across the site from the west, such as from limited gaps on 

Green Lane, the tree line along the motorway does not provide a definitive 

termination, and there is a perception of openness continuing beyond, with 
clear glimpses of Polesworth School and buildings nearby.  

25. The safeguarded route for the HS2 would be close to the motorway, crossing it 

to the south of the site, but I was informed that the line would be covered 

along this section, so it would appear unlikely to form a further strong barrier 

that might serve to isolate Parcel 7.   

26. In reciprocal views from the south, such as near Birchmoor, on the motorway 

bridge and from both arms of Green Lane, the site is seen as a prominent 
termination of the rising land.  These views also allow a good appreciation of 

the swathe of open land continuing beyond the motorway, so that Parcel 7 is 

seen as part of the wider gap.  

27. The appellant’s ‘qualitative assessment’ of the current perception of the gap 

between the settlements and of the likely effect of development7 seeks to 
analyse the role of the site in sequences of views along public routes.  The 

assessment places considerable emphasis on the limited change to the identity 

of Tamworth rather than on the reduction of the gap.  When analysing the gap 
it gives significant weight to inability to perceive the edges of both 

Polesworth/Dordon and Tamworth at the same time from particular viewpoints.  

I find that this does not pay enough regard to the experience of people moving 

                                       
5 Appeal Ref APP/R3705/W/15/3136495 
6 Reflecting guidance in Planning on the Doorstep: The Big Issues - Green Belt    LGA /PAS   February 2015 
7 Landscape Statement of Evidence by Nicola Jacob CMLI,  paras 4.32-4.100 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

between the settlements and across the gap, and their appreciation of having 

left one place and arrived at another.  It would not be essential for both edges 

of the gap to be seen together to have a clear understanding of the extent of 
the space available.  

28. The assessment acknowledges that even allowing for planting in accordance 

with the submitted indicative plans, the appeal proposal would be clearly seen 

from Green Lane and from houses within Stonydelph, from roads and houses in 

and around Birchmoor including from the motorway bridge, and also from 
Hermitage Lane to the east of the motorway.  At closer range there would be 

radical change experienced by users of the footpath around the perimeter of 

the site and of the Tamworth road spur, as well as by the many users of the 

sports facility.  All of these would be highly conscious of the further expansion 
of Tamworth and of the reduction in the gap.  

29. The assessment of the gap by those passing along the B5000 stresses the 

general degree of enclosure of the route by tree planting on each side.  I agree 

that open views from the road are limited, mainly to junctions with side roads 

and the crossing of the motorway bridge.  But I find it important that the 
motorway is perceived as an incident along the route, rather than a boundary 

or demarcation between different character areas that would define separate 

settings for Tamworth and Polesworth.  

30. At the Tamworth end, the suburban character of Stonydelph is identifiable.  At 

the junction with Chiltern Road, the view of the sports field between a thin line 
of trees confirms a transition to open land.  The study acknowledges that there 

would be sight of the proposed development across the sports ground.  The 

sports pavilion is prominent from the junction with the spur road, but despite 
the falling landform I consider that the development would also be seen.  Such 

views might well be at least partly screened, and relatively fleeting if from a 

motor vehicle.  But they would allow a perception of the expansion of suburban 

development and its much greater closeness to Polesworth.  

31. In terms of travel time by motor vehicle between the towns, the already short 
distance along the B5000 would become very brief indeed.  Local people, to 

whom the retention of a meaningful gap is of greatest relevance, would be 

most aware of the reduced gap, but anyone moving between the settlements 

would be likely to remark upon the narrowness of the break. 

32. There is strong evidence of longstanding local concern about the need to 
maintain a separate identity for Polesworth with Dordon as a small rural place.  

The second component of the CS Spatial Vision is ‘that the rural character of 

North Warwickshire will be retained and reinforced to ensure that when 

entering the Borough it is distinctive from the surrounding urban areas’.  

33. For the above reasons, I find that the appeal proposal would not significantly 
affect the identity of Tamworth, but would result in a major reduction in the 

space between settlements, to the extent that there would no longer be an 

adequate ‘meaningful gap’ and the separate rural identity of Poleswoth with 

Dordon would be weakened.  The proposal would therefore be contrary to CS 
Policy NW19.  It would also conflict with emerging NWLP Policy LP5, to which 

reduced weight applies pending adoption of the plan.  

 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Effects on Infrastructure 

Highways 

34. The application was supported by a full Transport Assessment (‘TA’), to which 
an Addendum was made during consideration by the Council.  

35. The Council’s appeal statement had expressed concern that highways impacts 

had not been resolved with WCC or SCC as highways authorities for, 

respectively, the NWDC area and for Tamworth.  Tamworth Borough Council 

(‘TBC’) also raised objection that SCC’s concerns had not been addressed. 

36. The Highways SCG with WCC was concluded shortly before the Hearing and 

records that all matters were now resolved to WCC’s satisfaction, subject where 
necessary to planning obligations and conditions.  The SCG includes an updated 

version of the TA and an amendment to the submitted access plan8, which 

shows enhanced and extended footway works near the access.  The Highways 
SCG with SCC was submitted at the Hearing, where it was confirmed that the 

one matter outstanding, relating to impact on a junction on the B5000, had 

now been resolved following further analysis.  

37. The executed UU to WCC commits to the required contributions to improve 

routes to schools by cycle and on foot, to improve bus stops near the site 

entrance, to allow early mitigation work for junction improvements in 
Polesworth and to enhance public rights of way in the area of the site.  It was 

agreed at the Hearing that the formation of links to Green Lane, and hence to 

the Stonydelph footpath network, could be secured by condition.  

38. On the above basis, I am satisfied that the appeal proposal would not have 

adverse impacts on the safe and convenient operation of the local highway 
network and would support access by sustainable modes of travel.  The 

proposal would therefore comply with the access provisions of CS Policy NW10, 

and of national policy9. 

39. I appreciate the concerns raised at the Hearing by the Council and by TBC that 

the late resolution of these issues had not allowed adequate opportunity for 
any further independent verification of the solutions.  However, the case for 

both Councils had indicated that the need was to resolve issues with the 

respective highway authorities, which has now been achieved.  There are 
insufficient grounds to suggest that any further interrogation would be 

productive or likely to result in a different conclusion.  

Education 

40. The Council’s appeal statement had expressed concern that education impacts 

had not been mutually resolved by the appellant with WCC and SCC as the 

respective education authorities for the adjoining boroughs.  

41. The Education SCG concluded with WCC confirms that there is sufficient 

primary school capacity in Polesworth to absorb any demand arising from the 
proposed development, but that additional capacity would be necessary at 

Polesworth Secondary School.  The completed UU commits to the required 

financial contribution for this, as well as funding for Special Education Needs at 

both primary and secondary levels.  

                                       
8 Plan ref 173236_A01 Rev E 
9 NPPF paras 108-110 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

42. Representations on the appeal by SCC had pointed to joint working with WCC 

on planning for the NWLP allocations, particularly the land at Robey’s Lane, to 

ensure adequate education provision across both NWDC and Tamworth areas.  
By the time of the Hearing SCC no longer sought financial contributions to 

meet the full anticipated demand from the development, but remained 

concerned that the agreed arrangements for the Robey’s Lane allocation could 

be undermined by earlier completion of the appeal development. 

43. It is common ground that SCC has no statutory role in meeting education 
needs for the appeal site.  It is also accepted that parental choice allows 

children to attend schools on opposite sides of the county boundary, and that 

this currently occurs in both directions.  It appears that the actual availability of 

places at any particular school is a moving target.  I have limited detailed 
information on the joint working on the Robey’s Lane site, but it seems likely 

that when and if planning permission is granted for its development, the 

situation would have to be assessed at that time and detailed provision secured 
accordingly.  There is insufficient reason to conclude a lasting harmful effect on 

Tamworth provision by permitting the appeal proposal. 

44. The appellant’s obligation provides a justified response to the mitigation of 

education impacts.  The proposal would comply with the infrastructure 

requirements of CS Policy NW22. 

Other infrastructure  

45. It is accepted that the proposed provision on the site of 40% affordable 

housing and open space and a play area, to be secured by the UU to NWDC, 

would comply with the Council’s relevant policies and with the legal tests for 
planning obligations.  I find no reason to disagree.  The UU would allow for 

potential use of affordable units to meet Tamworth’s need should that be 

justified at the time. 

46. I also accept that the other obligations of that UU, involving financial 

contributions to mitigate impacts on hospital, healthcare and police services 
would be policy and legally compliant. 

47. The Council accepts the appellant’s case that the proposal would enhance local 

biodiversity.  In the absence of evidence to the contrary, I find insufficient 

justification for the obligation contained in the UU to WCC to fund biodiversity 

offsetting.  This obligation would not provide a reason to support the grant of 
planning permission.  

Conclusion on infrastructure impacts 

48. I conclude that with the exception of the proposed biodiversity offsetting 

obligation, the proposal would provide adequate justified mitigation for the 

effects of development on local infrastructure.  

Other matters 

49. The appellant’s Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (‘LVIA’) predicts a 

moderate adverse effect on immediate local landscape character, reducing to 

minor in the long term.  I endorse the Council’s consultants’ response that this 

would underplay the long-term effect of the complete change of character of 
this part of the agricultural land.  However, I accept the main parties’ 

agreement that the landscape effects would be localised and limited in their 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

wider effect.  The LVIA’s assessment of visual effects would be reasonable, 

including major/moderate medium-term adverse effects on users of the public 

footpath around the site and on residents of Tamworth Road, reducing with 
mitigation to moderate adverse over the long term, or moderate reducing to 

minor in the case of Green Lane, with adverse effects on users of the sports 

ground expected to be moderate, reducing to minor-negligible.  

50. The appellant suggests that the loss of best and most versatile land would have 

negligible economic consequences, and the Council does not object on this 
ground.  The Council also accepts that a suitable layout and design could be 

secured at reserved matters stage and that, subject to necessary conditions, 

there would be no adverse effects in respect of increased risk of flooding, the 

significance of heritage assets and use of the sports ground.  The Council 
concludes that the effect of motorway noise, which had been raised in 

representations, could be adequately addressed by details of ground form and 

acoustic boundary treatments, secured by conditions, and by further details of 
building elements at a later stage.  Subject to those provisions, I agree that 

these matters would not provide reasons to reject the appeal proposal.  

Balance of considerations 

51. The Planning SCG records the main parties’ agreement that the ‘tilted balance’ 

defined by NPPF paragraph 11(d) should apply in this case.  This follows from 

an earlier appeal decision for employment development at Daw Mill Colliery, 

Arley,10 in which the Secretary of State had agreed with the Inspector that CS 
Policies NW2 and NW10 should be regarded as out-of-date insofar as the 

settlement hierarchy relies on development boundaries or defined areas on the 

Proposals Map.  This conclusion was accepted by the Council and endorsed by 
the Inspector in a subsequent appeal for residential development at St. 

Lawrence Road, Ansley11.  I agree that any conflict with these policies, and the 

related distribution of housing set out by Policies NW4 and NW5, must also be 

afforded reduced weight in the current appeal.  

52. Although the examination of the NWLP has progressed since those two 
decisions were made, as outlined earlier I consider that the emerging policies 

can only receive relatively limited weight in this decision.  I do not accept 

submissions made at the Hearing, which had not been included in the Council’s 

notional reasons for refusal or in its written case, that the proposal could be 
seen as premature in connection with the adoption of the NWLP.  Neither the 

scale of the proposal nor the NWLP’s current stage of progress would accord 

with the limited circumstances identified by the NPPF to justify refusal on 
grounds of prematurity12.  

53. For the above reasons I accept the agreed position on the application of the 

‘tilted balance’ in this case, which means that permission should be granted 

unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits.  

Housing supply 

54. A main benefit offered by the appeal proposal would be the addition of up to 

150 dwellings to the supply of housing, which would accord with the 

                                       
10 Appeal Ref APP/R3705/W/16/3149827    
11 Appeal Ref APP/R3705/W/17/3189584 
12 NPPF para 49 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes.  In the 

St. Lawrence Road appeal, the Inspector decided that there was no point in 

examining the supply of housing in detail, as the tilted balance was already 
engaged.  But in the present case, I accept the appellant’s submission that the 

precise degree of weight to be attached to this social benefit is to a certain 

extent influenced by the current supply of housing in the area, which was 

debated at the Hearing.  

55. The SCG records agreement by the main parties that the housing requirement 
should be based on a figure of 264 dwellings per annum (‘dpa’) over the five-

year period 2018-2023.  This figure, which is an increase over the CS figure, 

has been used for the submission NWLP requirement of 5808 dwellings to 

2033.  The Examining Inspector’s Progress Note accepts the submission figure 
but advises that the overall requirement should be confirmed to include unmet 

need from the Birmingham area, which had been proposed as a separate 

aspiration.  However, he recognises that the increased requirement might pose 
difficulties in delivery in the early years, which could be addressed by means 

such as a stepped delivery trajectory.  In response to the Progress Note, both 

main parties have noted the need for an increased overall requirement, but 

have not sought to depart from the 264 dpa annual requirement for the period 
under review for the appeal.  I accept that this is the most reasonable way to 

proceed until the delivery trajectory of the full NWLP requirement is finally 

resolved. 

56. The examination will also provide the appropriate forum to interrogate the full 

detail of the Council’s stated supply, rather than the more constrained setting 
of a S78 appeal.  Until the outcome of this element of the examination process 

is known, conclusions on the ability to show a deliverable five-year supply will 

not be fully definitive.  However, it is possible to reach broad conclusions on 
the evidence presented to the appeal Hearing.  

57. Based on the requirement of 264 dpa, the Council’s Housing Land Supply 

Report of March 2018 had shown a deliverable supply of 4.8 years’, including a 

20% buffer to reflect previous under-delivery.  However, a subsequent update 

for the NWLP examination, using a 5% buffer, indicates 5.5 years’ supply.  The 
Progress Note confirms the Inspector’s current view that the latter is the 

correct buffer to be applied.  This is accepted by the appellant in their response 

to the Note.  The published results of the Housing Delivery Test now also 
indicate use of a 5% buffer.  Therefore, for the purpose of the appeal, I 

consider that the starting point in assessing the supply should be the Council’s 

most recent statement.  

58. In disputing the Council’s published supply, the appellant challenges the 

forecast outputs from 7 sites, to which the Council responded at the Hearing.  
Six of the sites are proposed for allocation by the NWLP, but several have 

already received outline planning permission or are the subject of applications.  

Of these, the evidence of unresolved issues on affordable housing provision at 

Daisy House Farm Phase 2 (NWLP Site H18) suggests that the Council’s 
forecast of progress at the site might be over-ambitious and that a year’s 

slippage (24 units) should be deducted.  The completion of S106 agreements at 

Orton Road (H26) and Barn End Road (H27) gives sufficient confidence of likely 
delivery.  Despite the Council’s view that once an outline application at Church 

Road/Nuneaton Road, Hartshill (H19) was approved, delivery would make up 

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

the forecast output, I consider that the appellant’s assessment is more realistic 

and that 80 units should be discounted from the supply.  

59. Of the two sites that were not subject to planning applications at the time of 

the Hearing, there was very little evidence to give confidence of delivery at 

Shuttington Village Hall (H25), so that all 24 units should be discounted.  The 
other site, Land to the East of Polesworth and Dordon (H7) was said to have 

co-ordinated action by landowners and active involvement by Homes England, 

but submission of an application was intended to follow adoption of the NWLP.  
Slippage appears very likely, so that there is insufficient evidence to include 

the predicted 150 units in the supply at present.  The Council gave assurances 

that the final site, Land off Coleshill Road, had been built out, so that no 

reduction in supply would be warranted. 

60. The omission of 278 units would reduce the predicted supply to 1912 homes, 
which would equate to some 4.75 years, based on a 5% buffer.  The inability to 

demonstrate a five-year deliverable supply provides a further ground to 

confirm that the ‘tilted balance’ is engaged.  However, the evidence shows that 

the situation could change quite rapidly, subject to progress on a very small 
number of key sites or to early adoption of the NWLP.  

61. The provision of the proposed 150 units attracts significant weight in the 

planning balance.  The current modest deficiency in supply does not add 

substantial extra weight to the benefit.  Moreover, the appellant’s worst-case 

prediction based on a 5% buffer would be a supply of 4.3 years.  Even if the 
appellant’s submissions on every site were to be accepted, the difference in 

supply would not be great, and would not further significantly increase the 

weight to be given to this benefit.  

Other benefits  

62. The provision of 40% affordable housing would meet the expectation of CS and 

supporting supplementary policy, but it would still represent an important 

social benefit in the face of an identified local shortfall, to which significant 
weight must be given.  Other provisions of the UUs are primarily to mitigate 

the development’s own impacts and cannot be taken as benefits.  However, the 

provision of play facilities and open space that might draw some use from 
Stonydelph residents can be taken as a very modest social benefit.  Similarly, 

improvements to bus stops, cycle routes and rights of way could have some 

wider use that would provide some social and environmental benefit.  

63. There would be some short-term economic benefit from the investment in 

construction and also some moderate social and economic benefits from the 
increased support by future residents for local businesses and community 

groups.  However, similar benefits could be secured by development in 

accordance with the adopted and emerging plan, which tempers the weight to 
be given to them.  Economic benefits would not arise from increased Council 

Tax revenue, which would cover the service needs of the development’s 

residents, and New Homes Bonus payments, of which there is no evidence that 

would be used to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

Balance  

64. The Council has requested that a decision on this appeal should be deferred to 

await the conclusions of the NWLP examination in respect of the main strategic 

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

issues.  I acknowledge that the comprehensive review of all evidence for the 

examination could well lead to differing conclusions on the housing land supply 

and on the merit and extent of any gap between settlements.  However, I am 
satisfied that the evidence before me allows an informed decision to be made 

on the basis of current and emerging policy and other material considerations, 

and that it is not necessary to await the further outcomes of the examination.  

65. Set against the benefits outlined above would be the considerable conflict with 

a longstanding planning objective and key element of the CS spatial vision 
arising from the reduction of the gap between settlements and consequent 

weakening of the separate rural identity of Polesworth/Dordon.  The resulting 

social and environmental harm is a matter of substantial weight.  There would 

also be minor environmental and social harm arising from the acknowledged 
adverse local landscape and visual effects.  

66. The benefits related to the provision of additional houses would be predicated 

on their early delivery at a time when existing strategic policies are seen as 

out-of-date and the housing supply is slightly below the required minimum.  

However, it is clear that the Council has worked to address those issues 
through the submission of the NWLP, which is at a relatively advanced stage 

and could soon be adopted.  By contrast with the immediate benefits, the 

harmful effects of building the houses in the wrong location would be 
permanent. 

67. In my judgement, the lasting harmful impacts would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Thus there are no material considerations 

that would outweigh the proposal’s conflict with the policy of the CS and of the 

emerging NWLP.  

Conclusion 

68. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed, 

and outline planning permission refused. 

 

Brendan Lyons 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          13 

APPEARANCES 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 

 

Morag Ellis   Queen’s Counsel 

Cameron Austin-Fell RPS Planning & Development  

Paul Hill RPS Planning & Development 

Nicola Jacob Randall Thorp Landscape Architects 

Pauline Randall Randall Thorp Landscape Architects 

Mike Axon Vectos 

Steve Clyne EFM  

Kate Barker Eversheds Sutherland (International) LLP 

Zoe Curnow Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 

 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

 

Steve Maxey Corporate Director -Environment 

Dorothy Barratt Forward Planning Manager 

Jeff Brown  Head of Development Control 

Philip Smith Land Use Consultants 

Rebecca Knight Land Use Consultants 

 

INTERESTED PERSONS: 

 

Janet Neale Warwickshire County Council 

Joanne Archer Warwickshire County Council 

Simon Hill Staffordshire County Council 

Louise Andrews-Gee Staffordshire County Council 

Andrew Collinson Tamworth Borough Council 

John Smitten Polesworth Parish Council 

Leenamari Aantaa-Collier Shakespeare Martineau Solicitors 

Mike Smith George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust 

 
 

DOCUMENTS 

 

Submitted at the Hearing: 

1 Council’s letter on CIL compliance, dated 5 November 2018 

2 Environment Bank quote for biodiversity offsetting, dated 9 April 2018 

3 Appellant’s Housing Land Supply Update 6 November 2018 

4 LUC Memo: Key issues and points of difference between Appellant and 
Council, dated 23 October 2018 

5 Highways Statement of Common Ground – Staffordshire County Council 

6 Heat map: Nethersole Primary School 

7 Meaningful Gap plan 

8 Council report, October 2018: North Warwickshire’s Five Year Housing Land 
Supply as at 31 March 2018 

9 Appeal Decision Ref APP/C1950/W/17/3190821 

10 Appeal site delivery trajectory 

11 Schedule of potential pre-commencement conditions, signed on behalf of 
appellant 

  

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3705/W/18/3196890 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          14 

  

Submitted after the Hearing: 

12 E-mail from Eversheds Sutherland (International) LLP dated 16 November 

2018 with certified copies of executed Unilateral Undertakings  

13 Council’s response to Examining Inspector’s Progress Note, letter dated    

17 January 2019 

14 Appellant’s response to Examining Inspector’s Progress Note, letter dated    

18 January 2019 

 

 

 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5a 0056-2019 - 50 Thomas Street
	5b 0261-2018 - Alders Cottage
	6a Appeal decision - B5000 North Warks Sports Ground
	Appendix A Appeal decision - B5000 North Warks Sports Ground


